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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF VIRGINIA
ALEXANDRIA DIVISION

CAROLYN DYKES
INDIVIDUALLY AND ON BEHALF OF
ALL OTHERS SIMILARLY SITUATED,

Plaintiffs,
Trial by Jury
Demanded

V. Civil Action No. 1:18-cv-154

GATESTONE & CO. INTERNATIONAL INC,

Defendant.
February 12, 2018

Class Action Complaint for Violations of the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act
I. Introduction
1. Carolyn Dykes brings this suit on behalf herself and all those similarly
situated against Gatestone & Co. International Inc., a debt collector, on account of
1ts misrepresentation of and non-compliance with the Fair Debt Collection Practices
Act (“FDCPA”), 15 U.S.C. § 1692, et seq., and federal student loan law.
IT. Jurisdiction
2. Jurisdiction in this Court is proper under 15 U.S.C. § 1692k(d) and 28
U.S.C. § 1331.
3. This Court has jurisdiction over the defendant and venue in this Court
1s proper, because the acts complained of occurred in this state and because the

Plaintiff and the Class Members are residents of Virginia.
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ITI. Parties

4, Carolyn Dykes is a natural person.

5. The defendant Gatestone & Co. International Inc. (“Gatestone”) is a
Delaware Corporation registered to transact business in the Commonwealth of
Virginia, and is engaged in the collection of consumer debts. The Defendant uses
Instrumentalities of interstate commerce in the collection of debts. It regularly
collects debts from consumers located across the Commonwealth of Virginia. At all

times relevant hereto, Defendant was a “debt collector” as that term is defined by

the FDCPA.
IV. Factual Allegations
6. Plaintiff Dykes is a “consumer” as that term is defined by FDCPA §
1692a(3).
7. Plaintiff Dykes was a debtor with federal student loans that were

placed into default status.

8. Plaintiff Dykes’ federal student loan was “debts” as that term is
defined by the FDCPA.
9. After Dykes’ loans were placed into default status, they were assigned

to Gatestone for collection purposes.

10.  Gatestone sent letters to Plaintiff Dykes and the class members
seeking to have them pay the defaulted loans. A copy of the letter sent to Plaintiff
Dykes (the “Letter”) is attached hereto as Exhibit A.

11. The Letter was Gatestone’s initial communication with Plaintiff.
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12.  The Letter was directed to Plaintiff at a Virginia address.

13.  Upon information and belief, this form of letter was Gatestone’s initial
communication with the other members of the Class.

14.  The Letter, which bears the notation “1 of 2” on the first page, advises
Plaintiff Dykes and the class members, in prominent bold all caps lettering to “SEE
REVERSE SIDE FOR IMPORTANT INFORMATION”.

15. The letter also includes a second page, bearing the notations “2 of 2”,
which contains additional instructions to Plaintiff Dykes and the class members.

16.  On page 2 of 2 of the Letter, Gatestone advises Plaintiff Dykes and the
class members that if they wish to dispute the default status of their loans, they
should submit a request in writing to inspect and copy the records pertaining to the
loan, or request a review regarding the legal enforceability or past status of the loan
obligation.

17.  The instructions to Plaintiff Dykes and the class members that in
order to dispute the debt, they should submit the request in writing overshadows
and circumvents the rights given to consumers under the FDCPA to dispute the
debt orally or in writing, and the requirement of debt collectors to advise consumers
of their right to dispute the debt, as set forth in 15 USC §1692g.

18.  Also on page 2 of 2 of the letter, Gatestone further advises Plaintiff
Dykes and the class members that they may request a review if they can prove the
loan was not past due with the lender, the loan balance is incorrect, or the consumer

did not incur the debt. Gatestone specifically tells Plaintiff Dykes and the class
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members that they may not request a review for any of the following reasons: You
failed to pay your lender; you failed to complete your education and/or were
dissatisfied with the school you attended; or you were unable to find employment in
the field for which the school prepared you.

19. The least sophisticated consumer would believe, reading these
Iinstructions, that they were obligated to repay the loan, even if they were
dissatisfied with the school due to fraud in the inducement by the school.

20.  Under federal law, fraud in the inducement by the school would be a
defense to the consumer’s obligation to repay the loan.

21. A consumer whose student loan was entered into as a result of fraud
by the school would likely be dissatisfied and unhappy with the school.

22.  The Letter instructs Plaintiff Dykes and the class members that even
if they are dissatisfied with the school, they do not have a right to have this
reviewed.

23.  Contrary to the statement in the Letter, Federal Law allows Plaintiff
Dykes and Class Members to have an administrative review of the student loan,
wherein they can contest the enforceability of the loan due to their dissatisfaction
with a school committing fraud against them.

24.  Gatestone sent the Letter to Dykes on or about October 24, 2017.

25.  Dykes received the Letter shortly thereafter.

26.  Dykes read the Letter shortly after receiving it.

27.  The notices provided in 15 U.S.C. §1692g are required as they help
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consumers determine whether a debt i1s legitimate, whether the debt is the
consumer’s, and whether the debt is for the correct amount. In addition, although
the instructions for initiating administrative review of the loan, while not required,
must be accurate if they are given. When the instructions regarding eligibility for
an administrative review are given inaccurately or misleadingly, the student loan
borrower may be misled into believing they have no right to an administrative
review which they might otherwise have. Such an administrative hearing can
determine the validity and amount of any claim.

28. Instead of accurately providing these important and necessary notices
of the safeguards the student loan borrower has against improper claims, the
dunning letters sent by defendant lead the student loan borrower to believe that 1)
they must submit a dispute of the debt in writing; and 2) they could not initiate an
administrative review hearing of a student loan debt which was accrued through
the fraudulent actions of the school attended.

29. By failing effectively to convey to Plaintiff and the class members their
rights under the FDCPA, Defendant has harmed Plaintiffs and the class members.

30. The acts and omissions of Defendant described above injured Plaintiff
and the class members in a concrete way. As a result of these acts and omissions,
Plaintiff and the class members were subjected to threats and collection attempts
from Defendant, which contained material misrepresentations that deceptively and
misleadingly advised from Plaintiff and the class members that they had no right to

an administrative review of the student loan based on fraud, and further lead
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Plaintiff and the class members to believe that any dispute of the debt must be in
writing, overshadowing specific notices which Congress put in place to protect and
safeguard debtors, as set forth in 15 U.S.C. §1692¢g. Plaintiff and the class members
were thus deprived of statutory verification rights which they would otherwise have
under 15 U.S.C. §1692g. In other words, Plaintiff and the class members suffered an
informational injury as a result of being deprived of information to which they were
legally entitled, and as a result of being supplied misleading information. This
injury also created a material risk of financial harm that Congress intended to
prevent by enacting the FDCPA — to wit, that Plaintiff, influenced by misleading
information, might make payment decisions that he might not have made had he
been given only truthful information.

31. The acts and omissions of Defendant described above injured Plaintiff
Dykes and the class members in a particularized way, in that Gatestone was
obligated by the FDCPA to supply non-misleading information to Plaintiffs
specifically, by virtue of the fact that Gatestone was attempting to collect a debt
from Plaintiff. Moreover, Gatestone was obligated by 15 USC §1692¢g to supply
accurate disclosures of the right to dispute a debt, not to the public at large, but to
Plaintiffs specifically.

32.  The debts that Defendant sought to collect from Plaintiff Dykes and
the class members were originally incurred for personal, family, or household

purposes.
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V. Class Allegations

33.  Plaintiff restates, realleges and incorporates herein by reference all
foregoing paragraphs as if set forth fully in this Count.

34. Under Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, Plaintiff Dykes
brings this action for herself and on behalf of a class initially defined as follows:
All natural persons who, according to Gatestone’s records, have a
Virginia address, who are similarly situated to Plaintiff in that, within
one year of the commencement of this action and continuing to the date
that an order is entered certifying this class, Gatestone sent them a
letter in a form substantially similar or materially identical to Exhibit
A., and which was mailed to an address in Virginia.

35.  The proposed Class is so numerous that joinder of all members would
be impracticable. Plaintiff does not know the size of the class, although this
information is known by the defendant and is readily ascertainable in discovery.
Based upon information readily available concerning the defendant, the size of its
operation, and its specialization in the collection of student loans, Plaintiff
estimates and accordingly alleges that there are hundreds and, in all probability,
thousands of individuals in the class.

36. There is a community of interest among the members of the proposed
Class in that there are questions of law and fact common to the proposed Class that
predominate over questions affecting only individual members.

37.  Plaintiff’s claims are typical of those of the Class that she seeks to
represent. In addition, Plaintiff is entitled to relief under the same causes of action

as the other members of the putative class.

38.  Plaintiff is represented by counsel competent and experienced in both
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consumer protection specific to student loans, and class action litigation, and she
has no conflicts with the members of the Class.

39. The common questions of law and fact predominate over any
individual questions, in that the letters are form letters, and any individual
questions are subordinate to the common questions of whether Gatestone violated
the FDCPA by misrepresenting the class members’ rights under 20 U.S.C. § 1095a
and 34 C.F.R. §§ 34:1-30.

40. A class action is superior to other methods for the fair and efficient
adjudication of the controversy. Because the damages suffered by individual class
members are relatively small compared to the expense and burden of litigation, it
would be impractical and economically unfeasible for class members to seek redress
individually. The prosecution of separate actions by the individual class members,
even if possible or likely, would create a risk of inconsistent or varying adjudications
with respect to the claims asserted by individual class members and could create
incompatible standards of conduct for the defendants. Moreover, because most class
members are unaware of their rights under 15 U.S.C. §1692g to dispute a debt
orally, or to seek a review and discharge of a student loan obligation based on fraud
by the school they attended, they are unlikely to bring an independent action, and a
class action is the only way that these violations can be rectified.

41.  Injunctive relief is appropriate for the Class, under Fed. R. Civ. P.
23(b)(2). Class certification is appropriate because Defendant has acted on grounds

generally applicable to the Class, making appropriate equitable injunctive relief
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with respect to Plaintiff Dykes and the Class members.
VI. Claims for Relief
First Cause of Action
Claims for Violations of 15 U.S.C. § 1692, et seq.

42.  Plaintiff restates, realleges, and incorporates herein by reference all
foregoing paragraphs as if set forth fully in this Count.

43. Collection letters, such as those sent by Defendant, are to be evaluated by
the objective standard of the hypothetical “least sophisticated consumer.”

44. Section 1692e of the FDCPA prohibits a debt collector from using any
false, deceptive, or misleading representations in connection with the collection of
any debt. Specifically, FDCPA § 1692e(2)(A) states that a debt collector cannot
make a “false representation of the character, amount, or legal status of any debt.”
FDCPA § 1692e(10) prohibits “[t]he use of any false representation or deceptive
means to collect or attempt to collect any debt or to obtain information concerning a
consumer.”

45.Section 1692f of the FDCPA prohibits the use of “unfair or unconscionable
means to collect or attempt to collect any debt.”

46. Section 1692¢g of the FDCPA requires that a debt collector include a
validation notice with the initial communication to the consumer, or send such
notice within five days after the initial communication. Under FDCPA § 1692g(a)(1)
the validation notice must include a statement of the amount of the debt.
Furthermore, FDCPA §§ 1692g(a)(3), g(a)(4), and g(a)(5) require the validation

notice to advise the consumer as to certain federal rights in connection with a
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procedure under which a consumer may dispute a debt, request verification of a
debt, or obtain the name and address of the creditor within 30 days of receiving the
initial validation notice from a debt collector.

47.  Under federal law, the notices required under 15 USC §1692g must be
effectively communicated, and may not be overshadowed, confounded or diluted as
seen from the perspective of the least sophisticated consumer.

48.  Gatestone violated the FDCPA by overshadowing and confounding the
required notices under 15 U.S.C. §1692g.

49.  Gatestone further violated the FDCPA by providing a false and
misleading instruction on the availability of administrative review of the student
loan debt, to wit — it falsely told consumers that they could not seek review of a
student loan debt based on dissatisfaction with the school they attended, when in
fact, if the dissatisfaction as based on a fraudulent inducement to enter into the
loan, they could in fact seek such a review.

50. In other words, Gatestone violated the FDCPA as follows:
A. Gatestone provided information which overshadowed and
contradicted the required disclosures of 15 USC §1692¢g by
Instructing consumers they needed to submit a request in

writing in order to dispute the default status of their loans

B. Gatestone falsely represented the character or legal status of
Plaintiffs’ debts; and

C. Gatestone used a false representation or deceptive means to
collect or attempt to collect a debt

D. Gatestone used unfair and unconscionable means to collect and

attempt to collect from Plaintiff and the class members.

10
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51. Gatestone’s violations in turn violate specific enumerated sections of
the FDCPA, as follows:
A. It falsely represented that a consumer could not seek a review of
a debt based on dissatisfaction with the school they attended,
even when that dissatisfaction was based on fraudulent
inducement, in violation of 15 U.S.C. §§ 1692e, 1692e(2), and
1692e(10).

B. It used unfair and unconscionable means to collect and attempt

to collect from Plaintiffs and the class members, in violation of
15 U.S.C. § 1692f.

C. It violated 15 U.S.C. §1692¢g, by failing to provide proper notice
of the ability to dispute a debt orally and by adding limitations
to the circumstances under which a consumer may dispute a
debt — even though, under 15 U.S.C. §1692g, a consumer can
dispute a debt for any reason or no reason.

52.  Plaintiff Dykes and the class members have suffered concrete,
particularized harms to legally protected interests because Gatestone’s false,
deceptive, and misleading representations, as set forth above, could detrimentally
affect Plaintiffs’ decision-making with respect to their alleged debts.

53. Under 15 U.S.C. § 1692k, Gatestone 1s liable to Plaintiff and the Class

Members to whom it sent the letter.

Demand for Jury Trial

54.  Plaintiff demands trial by jury on all claims and all issues.

Prayer for Relief

11
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WHEREFORE, Plaintiff Carolyn Dykes prays that this Court grant the
following relief in her favor, and on behalf of the class, and that judgment be
entered against Defendant for the following:

(A)  Statutory damages as provided by § 1692k(a)(2) of
the FDCPA;

(B)  Attorneys’ fees, litigation expenses and costs;

(C) A declaration that Defendants’ form letters,
represented by the form sent to the Plaintiff, a copy

of which is attached to this Complaint, violate the
FDCPA; and

(D)  Any other relief that this Court deems appropriate
under the circumstances.

PLAINTIFF,
CAROLYN DYKES,
Individually And On Behalf Of The Class,

/s/ Thomas R. Breeden

Thomas R. Breeden, Virginia Bar No. 33410
Thomas R. Breeden, P.C.

10326 Lomond Drive

Manassas, VA 20109

Tel: (703) 361-9277

Fax: (703) 257-2259

Email: trb@tbreedenlaw.com

Brian L. Bromberg

Bromberg Law Office, P.C.

26 Broadway, 21st Floor

New York, NY 10004

Tel: (212) 248-7906

Fax: (212) 248-7908

Email: brian@bromberglawoffice.com
(Pro Hac Vice to be filed)

12
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Gatestone & Co. Imtemational Inc.

10300 Spotsylvania Ave
Suite 200
Fredericksburg VA 22408
B77-833-2468

October 24, 2017 ACCOUNT NO. PRINCIPAL BAL, INTEREST

X 30715959 $11471.32 $1059.95
RE: Navient PENALTY CHARGES | FEES 8 COSTS | TOTAL BALANCE

$0.00 $2469.51 $15000.78

Dear Carolyn Dykes.
This is lo advise you that your account with Navient has been placed for collection with our agency.

Your account balance maybe periodically increased due to the addition of accrued interest or other charges as
provided in the agreement with the original creditor or as otherwise provided by federat and/or state law.

Unless you notify this office within 30 days after receiving this notice that you dispute the validity of this debt or any
portion thereof, this office will assume this debt s valid. If you notify this office in writing within 30 days from
receiving this notice that you dispute the validity of this debt or any portion thereof, this office wili obtain verification
of the debt or obtain a copy of a judgment and mail you a copy of such judgment or verification. If you request of
this office in writing within 30 days after receiving this notice this office will provide you with the name and address
of the original creditor, if different from the current creditor. This communication is from a debt collector. This
is an attempt to collect a debt and any information obtained will be used for that purpose.

Write our office regarding your intentions to resolve this debt at:
Gatestone & Co. Intemational inc.
10300 Spotsylvania Ave, Suite 200, Fredericksburg VA 22408

How to Pay
For your convenience, the following payment options are available:

Payment via Phone
Call a representative at 877-833-2468 to pay by debit card, credit card, or bank account.

Mail in Your Payment
Please include the coupon below.

Monday — Thursday 8:00 AM-9:00 PM, Friday 8:00 AM — 5:00 PM, Saturday 8:00 AM — 12:00 PM. All times are
Eastern Standard Time. To ensure professional service and legal compliance, all incoming and outgoing
telephone calls to Gatestone & Co. International inc. may be recorded and/or monitored.

See Reverse Side For Important Information

T ONWEST21344-07062017
- N
J PLEASE DO NOT MAIL PAYMENTS TO THIS ADDRESS.
ACCOUNT NO. PRINCIPAL BAL. INTEREST
30715958 $11471.32 $1059.95
ONWEST21 PENALTY CHARGES FEES & COSTS TOTAL BALANCE
PO Sox 1280 $C.00 $2465¢.51 $15000.78
Qaks PA 19456-1280 AMOUNT PAID;
ADDRESS SERVICE REQUESTED
Gatestane & Co. International Inc.
10300 Spotsylvania Ave
Suite 200
344D-21 554974509 Fradericksburg VA 22408
T LT LN T L T B R T R 1T
Carolyn Dykes
. 10326 Lomond Dr
i Manassas VA 20109-3114 '/-‘
) ' EXHIBIT __/

21 DpDODODOOO30715959 9 00000000000 52D000000344D 4
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important information About Your Debt
We are required under state law to notify consumers of the following rights. This list does nat contain a complete list of the

rights consumers have under state and fedaral jaw.

Correspondence Address:
Gatestone & Co. International Inc., 10300 Spotsylvania Ave. Suite 200, Fredericksburg, VA 22408. Please do not send

payments to this address,

California Residents The state Rosenthal Fair Debt Callection Practices Act and the federat Fair Debt Collection Practices
Act require that, except under unusual circumstances, collectors may not contact you before 8 a.m. or after 9 p.m. They may
not harass you by using threats of violence or arrest or by using obscene fanguage. Collectors may not use false or misleading
statements or calt you at work if they know or have reason to know that you may not receive personal calls at work. For the
most pant, coliectors may not teil another person, other than your attorney or spouse, about your debt, Collectors may contact
another person to confirm your location or enforce a jsdgment. For more information about debt coliection activities, you may
contact the Federal Trade Commission at 1-877-FTC-HELP or www . ftc.gov.

Colorado Residents A consumer has the right to request in writing that a debt collector or coltection agency cease further
communication with the consumer. A written request to cease communication will not prohibit the debt collector or collection
agency from taking any other action authorized by law to collect the debt.

FOR INFORMATION ABOUT THE COLORADO FAIR DEBT COLLECTION PRACTICES ACT, SEE WWW.COAG.GOV/CAR.

Denver Office: Stokes & Woif P.C, 1776 S. Jackson Street, Suite 300, Denver, CO 80210.
Office Phone: 303-753-0100. Cffice Fax: 303-753-0310

lllinois Residents Original Creditor:

Massachusefts Residents Mass. Office: 5230 Washington St., West Roxbury, MA 02132
* Hours Mon - Thurs 10AM - 3PM EAST.

NOTICE OF IMPORTANT RIGHTS

You have the right o make a written or oral request that telephone calls regarding your debt not be made to you at your place
of employment. Any such oral request will be valid for only ten days unless you provide written confirmation of the request
postmarked or delivered within seven days of such request. You may terminate this request by writing to the debt coliector.

Minnesota Residents This collection agency is licensed by the Minnesota Department of Commerce.

New York Residents Debt collectors, in accordance with the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act, 15 U.5.C. § 1692 et seq., are
prohibited from engaging in abusive, deceptive, and unfair debt collection efforts, including but not limited to:

{i) the use or thraat of violence; (i) the use of obscene or profane language; and (iii) repeated phone calis made with the intent
to annoy, abuse, or harass.

I a creditor or debt collector receives a money judgment against you in court, state and federal laws may prevent the following
types of income from being taken to pay the debt:

1. Supptementaj security income, (SSI);

2. Social security;

3. Public assistance (welfare);

4. Spousal support, maintenance {alimony) or child support;

5. Unemployment benafits;

6. Disability benefits;

7. Warkers’ compensation benefits;

8. Public or private pensions;

9. Veterans' benefits;

10. Federal student loans, federal student grants, and federal work study funds; and

11. Ninety percent of your wages or salary earned in the last sixty days.

This collection agency is licensed by the New York City Department of Consumer Affairs, license number 1023986.

North Carolina Residents This collection agency is licensed by the North Carolina Department of Insurance, Permit Number
3975.

Tennessee Residents This collection agency is licensed by the Tennessee Collection Service Board of the Department of
Commerce and Insurance.
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THE FOLLOWING NOTICE IS PROVIDED TC YOU IN COMPLIANCE WITH FEDERAL STATUTE 20 U.S.C. § 1078(k)(4)

Please be advised, if you are unable to pay in full the outstanding balance on your defaulted foan(s), you have the following
additional options for resolving yout laan default:

5) Repayment Arrangements with the Collection Contractor

You may contact us to arrange for acceptable repayment terms. Please ensure that you understand all of the
agreed-upon terms, as you will be required to fulfil these commitments. A portion of each payment received from you
will be allocated to pay coliection costs. Those costs are assessed on your account 60 days after the default claim
purchase.

2} Loan Rehabilitation
Loan rehabilitation offers you the opportunity to resolve your loan default and improve your credit record by removing
your guarantors’ report of your tnan default. When you complete your rehabilitation commitment, your defaulted
student loan(s) will be eligible for purchase by a lender, and the loan(s) will no longer be considered in default. Your
guarantor wili delete all credit entries refated to your loan(s) default from each of the national consumer reporting
agencies for the rehabilitated loan(s). Your guarantor will aisc notify the defauit claim lender of your rehabilitation and
notify the lender to delete its reporting of the defauit. To participate in the loan rehabilitation program, you must
advise Gatestone & Co. international Inc. that you wish to rehabilitate your defaulted loan(s) and to establish
acceptabie repayment terms. You will be notified of all the loan rehabilitation requirements, which include making at
least nine, on-time, consecutive payments during a 10-month period. As part of your eligibility for loan rehabilitation,
you will be assessed collection costs at a reduced rate of 18.5% of the outstanding balance at the time your loan is
purchased by an eligible lender, and the purchasing lender may add these costs to your outstanding loan principal.
Your guarantor will make every effort to secure a lender far you, but note that purchasing rehabllitated loan(s) is at
the discretion of the lender.

3} Loan Consolidation
You may consolidate all your FFELP loans, inciuding any defaulled loan(s), into a new, single loan. Loan
consolidation may simplify your loan repayment by requiring only one monthly payment, and may reduce your
monthly loan payment amount by extending the repayment term. To be eligible for loan consolidation, you must
advise Gatestone & Co. International Inc. that you wish to consolidate your loan(s). To consolidate your defaulled
loans, you should establish repayment arrangements and may be required to make three, on-time, consecutive,
monthly payments. Once you have made these payments, you may appty to an eligibie lender for a consolidation
loan, or you may ask the coliection contractor to assist you in locating an eligible lender. Note that if you consolidate
your loans, your guarantor will not remove the report of your loans’ defauit from your credit report; however, the
credit entry will be updated to refiect a paid-in-full status for the ariginal defauited loan(s). Additionaily, you wili be
assessed coliection charges at the rate of 18.5% of the outstanding balance of your defaulted loan(s) at the time
your loan(s) are consolidated, and your new lender may add these costs to your ocutstanding loan principal amount.

Failure to pay the account in full, agree to a satisfactory repayment arrangement, or utilize another recovery option fisted
above may resuit in additionat collection efforts. These efforts may include:

* Contacting your employer o seize a portion of your paycheck through administrative wage garnishment,
* Intercepting future federal and/or state income tax refunds or other federa! payments due you.

* Assigning your loan(s) to the U.S. Department of Education for collection.

* Pursuing other tawful collection procedures,

if you wish ta dispute the defauit status of your loan(s}, you may submit a request in writing to:
1. Inspect and copy our records pertaining to your loan obligation,
2. Request a review regarding the legal enforceability or past status of your loan obligation. You may request a review if you
can prove your loan was not past-due with your lender, the loan balance is incorrect, or you did not incur this debt. You
cannot request a review for any one of the following reasons:

* You failed to pay your lender.

* You failed to complete your education and/or were dissatisfied with the school you attended.

* You were unabie to find employment in the field for which the school prepared you.
To request a review, your request must be submitted in writing to: Navient, PO Box 2460, MC £2142, Wilkes-Barre, PA

18773-9460.
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